NO. 76639 1 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 2 **Electronically Filed** Dec 26 2018 08:29 a.m. 3 Elizabeth A. Brown NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT, TRAI 4 REHABILITATION, EMPLOYMENT SECURITY DIVISION, 5 Appellants, 6 vs. 7 SIERRA NATIONAL CORPORATION, dba THE LOVE RANCH, a NEVADA CORPORATION. 8 Respondent. 9 10 On Appeal from the First Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, in and for Carson City, Hon. James T. Russell 11 District Court Case No. 17 OC 00222 1B 12 APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF 13 14 15 LAURIE L. TROTTER, ESQ. Nevada State Bar No. 8696 16 State of Nevada, Dep't. of Employment, Training & Rehabilitation (DETR), 17 Employment Security Division (ESD) 500 East Thi

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction to consider the Appellant's appeal from the First Judicial District Court under the provisions of NRAP 3A(b)(1), which provides that "[a]n appeal may be taken from ... [a] final judgment entered in an action or proceeding commenced in the court in which the judgment is rendered." The Notice of Entry of Order of the District Court granting Petition for Writ of Mandamus was filed on February 14, 2018. (Appellant's Appendix (AA) Volume (V.) 5, p. 567) Respondent ESD's Motion to Reconsider Pursuant to NRCP 59(e) and 60(b) was filed February 16, 2018. (AA V.3, 284-327). The Notice of Entry of Order Denying Reconsideration was filed July 25, 2018. (AA [Part II] V.5, 536-550) The Notice of Appeal was timely filed under Nevada Rule of Appellate Procedure 4(a)(1) on August 3, 2018. (AA V.5, 559) *See*, NRAP 4(a)(1).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court as it involves a challenge to the decision of an administrative agency regarding a tax determination (ESD's finding that services performed by SNC's prostitutes constituted employment, for which SNC is subject to unemployment contributions, or taxes, and its employees likewise may be

LAURE L. TROTTER, ESQ. Senior Legal Counsel STATE OF NEVADA DETR/ESD 500 East Third Street Carson City, NV 89713 (775) 684-3996 (775) 684-3992 FAX eligible for unemployment benefits, under NRS 612.085). See, AA V.1, 002-006; see also, AA V.1, 049, ¶¶ 4-9.

Moreover, this case should be retained by the Supreme Court because the case also involves substantial issues of first impression and issues of statewide public policy regarding the applicability of the NPRA, specifically:

- (1) Whether the Legislature, under NRS 239.010(1), expressly exempted from disclosure all information protected under NRS 612.265 and protected by the attorney-client privilege under NRS 49.095.
- NRS Chapter 612 has been expressly and unequivocally declared absolutely privileged, and shall "not be the subject matter or basis for any lawsuit." NRS 612.265(14). Whether the Legislature, in so declaring, deemed all information prepared pursuant to the requirements of NRS Chapter 612 exempt from disclosure, and must not be the basis of litigation under NRS 239.001, *et seq.*, which expressly excludes NRS 239.011 litigation. *See also*, NRS 239.010(1).
- (3) Whether the Legislature has "declared by law to be confidential" information protected under NRS 612.265 §§ (1), (2) & (14),

and therefore such information is additionally exempted from disclosure under NRS 239.010(1). *See also*, NRS 612.265(13).

- (4) Does the District Court have subject matter jurisdiction to permit a party to a pending (non-final) administrative proceeding to use NRS 239 as a collateral method for discovery, overriding the authority of the Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) to render discovery decisions, in violation of NRS 612.500, NRS 612.510, NAC 612.225 and NAC 612.228, *inter alia*, and which would interrupt and delay the administrative proceeding and open a floodgate of administrative appeals before finality of the administrative process?
- proceeding has a statutory right under NRS 239 (or under NRS 34.170) to an (interlocutory) appeal to the District Court from an ALJ's preliminary decision regarding discovery, before the administrative hearing is final, in violation of the NRS 612.525(1) requirement to exhaust administrative remedies, and when such appeal would also interrupt and delay the administrative proceedings, depriving the parties of a prompt hearing under NRS 612.500(1).
- (6) Whether the District Court has subject matter jurisdiction under NRS 239.011 to issue independent findings of fact in an Order

1	Granting Petition for Writ of Mandamus, regarding the merits of a pending
2	administrative NRS 612 proceeding in which the ALJ has already assumed
3	jurisdiction, but has not yet rendered a final decision.

(7) This case also involves issues where *En Banc* consideration is necessary to maintain uniformity of this Court's decisions.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the District Court Err in Granting the Petition for Writ of Mandamus Under the Standards Established Per NRS Chapters 34, 239 & 612, and This Court's Decisions in City of Sparks v. Reno Newspapers, Inc., 133 Nev.Adv.Opn. 56, 399 P.3d 352 (2017); City of Reno v. Reno Gazette-Journal, 119 Nev. 55, 63 P.3d 1147 (2003); and Civil Rights for Seniors v. Administrative Office of the Courts, 129 Nev. 752, 313 P.3d 216 (2013); Benson v. State Engineer, 131 Nev.Adv.Op. 78, 358 P.3d 221 (2015); Goldman v. Bryan, 106 Nev. 30, 38, 787 P.2d 372, 377 (1990); Circus Circus Hotels, Inc. v. Witherspoon, 99 Nev. 56, 61, 657 P.2d 101, 105 (1983); Swan v. Swan, 106 Nev. 464, 469, 196 P.2d 221, 224 (1990); Scott v. Nevada Employment Sec. Dep't, 70 Nev. 555, 278 P.2d 602, 604 (1954)? /// /// ///

21

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

LAURE L. TROTTER, ESQ. Senior Legal Counsel STATE OF NEVADA DETR/ESD 500 East Third Street Carson City, NV 89713 (775) 684-3996 (775) 684-3992 FAX

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

After having requested an NRS 612 administrative appeal, and after the Employment Security Division's Administrative Law Judge (ALJ or referee) had assumed jurisdiction over the appeal, but before an evidentiary hearing could be held, Sierra National Corporation, *dba* The Love Ranch, a Nevada Corporation (SNC), submitted an NRS Chapter 239 Public Records Act (NPRA) request seeking NRS Chapter 612 unemployment insurance information in support of SNC's appeal. SNC's request stated: "the public records requested are necessary for the proper presentation of a proceeding pursuant to NRS Chapter 612, and are not sought for any other purpose." (AA V.1, 037-40)

Employment Security Division (ESD) served a timely response to SNC's NPRA request, respectfully declining, stating the reasons therefore, preserved its objections, and noted that the information sought is discoverable in the ongoing administrative matter under NRS Chapter 612.¹ (AA V.1, 041)

Before the administrative hearing could be held, SNC filed a Petition for Writ of Mandamus in the First Judicial District Court, under NRS 239.011, essentially appealing the ALJ's interlocutory decision

LAURE L. TROTTER, ESQ. Senior Legal Counsel STATE OF NEVADA DETR/ESD 500 East Third Street Carson City, NV 89713 (775) 684-3996 (775) 684-3992 FAX concerning the scope of discovery for the administrative hearing. The District Court, devoid of jurisdiction, erroneously considered and granted the Petition for Writ of Mandamus under NRS 239. Even though the Legislature expressly exempted and declared absolutely privileged the requested NRS 612.265 information from the Nevada Public Records Act under NRS 239.010, the First Judicial District Court, in and for Carson City, erroneously issued an Order Granting the Petition for Writ of Mandamus. (AA V.3, 255-275) In so doing, the Court inappropriately ordered ESD to comply with SNC's NPRA request, in violation of NRS 239.010,² and superseded the authority of the ALJ over the scope of discovery in the pending administrative proceeding. (The administrative proceeding has been stayed pending this appeal.)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

ESD conducted an audit and determined on May 12, 2017 that the prostitutes working for SNC were employees rather than independent contractors and, as such, would be eligible for unemployment insurance

•

¹ ESD has provided SNC with all relevant discovery in the process of the administrative proceeding, and as directed by the Administrative Law Judge.

² The Court's Order also violates NRS Chapter 612 and NRS Chapter 34.

benefits³ and SNC would accordingly be subject to unemployment insurance taxes under NRS 612.085. (AA V.1, 002-007) May 23, 2017, SNC appealed ESD's determination⁴ and requested a hearing before ESD's Appeal Tribunal (referee or ALJ). (AA V.1, 008) SNC requested the issuance of a subpoena for production of documents and witnesses, and asked that the administrative hearing be delayed until the fall of 2017 (the documents SNC requested were the same or similar to what appears to be sought is sought in the October 10, 2017 NPRA request). (AA V.1, 022-24; 026; 039-040) SNC sent a June 6, 2018 letter addressed to ESD asking that the Appeal Tribunal (ALJ or referee) issue a subpoena for ESD's production of records. (AA V.3, 305-307) SNC was informed that its questions regarding the discovery in this administrative case should be directed to the referee at the prehearing conference. (AA V.1, 035) SNC's appeal was assigned to Referee Larsen who assumed jurisdiction over the appeal; prehearing communications between Referee Larsen and the parties transpired concerning the date of the hearing and instructions concerning the discovery process for the administrative hearing. (AA V.1, 030-31; 042) ESD's

19

¹⁸

As employees, the prostitutes would be eligible for unemployment insurance benefits if otherwise eligible under NRS Chapter 612.

⁴ See, NRS 612.495 which provides statutory authority for an appeal to the ESD Appeal Tribunal.

prehearing conference. (AA V.1, 029; 034-36)

counsel invited SNC's counsel to confer regarding discovery before the

Despite Referee Larsen providing SNC with initial instruction regarding the discovery process for the administrative hearing (AA V.1, 030-31; 042), and after being advised by ESD's counsel regarding the administrative discovery process that SNC should request any subpoena it seeks at the October 19, 2017 prehearing conference (AA V.1, 035), SNC did not proffer any subpoena at the October 17, 2017 conference. (AA V.3, 323, Il. 10-13) SNC does not dispute that it proffered no subpoena to Referee Larsen.

Before the evidentiary hearing was held, before the referee's final decision regarding the requested evidence could be rendered, and before an appeal of the referee's decision to the Board of Review⁵ could be submitted, SNC sidestepped the referee's authority regarding the scope of discovery⁶ and presented ESD with a collateral NRS 239 Public Records Act (NPRA) request seeking NRS Chapter 612 unemployment insurance

⁵ See, NRS 612.525 which provides statutory authority for an appeal to the Board of Review.

⁶ See, NRS 612.500(3) which provides the referee statutory authority to develop the record with material evidence.

information.⁷ SNC's request under the NPRA was the same or similar to the information requested in the NRS 612 administrative proceeding; and SNC does not dispute this fact. (*See*, AA V.1, 008; 022-24) SNC's request stated: "the public records requested are necessary for the proper presentation of a proceeding pursuant to NRS Chapter 612, and are not sought for any other purpose." (AA V.1, 0378)

Employment Security Division (ESD) served a timely response to SNC's NPRA request, respectfully declining and noting that the information sought is discoverable in the ongoing administrative matter under NRS Chapter 612, and preserved its objections.⁹ (AA V.1, 041) Referee Larsen presided over the October 19, 2017 prehearing conference concerning the date of the evidentiary hearing and the discovery of evidence

16

17

18

19

20

7

8

9

10

11

¹³

The Petition for Writ of Mandamus also states, "[h]aving had its requests for discovery stonewalled by DETR in the administrative proceeding, and ignored (and ultimately denied) by the Appeals Referee, The Love Ranch issued a formal public records request ("Public Records Request") to DETR for documents that are necessary for the proper resolution of its appeal of

DETR's Determination." (Petition for Writ of Mandamus, p. 7, ll. 13-14 (AA V.1, 047-055)).

⁸ There can be no dispute that SNC requested the records in furtherance of SNC's pending appeal to ESD's Appeal Tribunal re: the NRS 612.085 determination, as evidenced by the fact that SNC asked that the Order granting writ relief be admitted into the administrative record. *See*, AA V.4, 365.

⁹ ESD has provided SNC with all relevant discovery in the process of the administrative proceeding, and in accordance with the presiding referee's direction. *See*, AA V.2, 140, 149, 151, 153, 155, 160-161; V.3, 323.

relevant to the hearing. (AA V.1, 042) *See*, NRS 612.500(3). Before the administrative hearing could be held and before a final decision could be rendered regarding what evidence may have been relevant that SNC seeks, and before any appeal of the referee's decision could be made to the Board of Review and thereafter to the District Court, ¹⁰ SNC refused to exhaust its administrative remedies under NRS 612.525, and filed an errant Petition for Writ of Mandamus under NRS 239.011 in the First Judicial District Court, causing interruption and significant delay in the pending NRS 612 administrative matter, violating NRS 612.500(1). (AA V.1, 045-69)

ESD filed an Answer to Petition for Writ of Mandamus on November 21, 2017. (AA V.1-2, 071-163) SNC filed a Motion for Leave to File Reply in Support of Petition for Writ of Mandamus on or about December 5, 2017. (AA V.2, 176-179) ESD's Opposition to Motion for Leave to File Reply was filed on December 29, 2017. (AA V.2, 171-175) SNC's Request for Submission of Motion for Leave was filed January 2, 2018. (AA V.2, 181) The Court's Order granting leave to file the Reply in Support of Petition for Writ of Mandamus was entered January 4, 2018. *Before* the Court's Order was entered, SNC's Reply in Support of Petition for Writ of Mandamus was filed January 2, 2018. (AA V.2, 184-221)

See, NRS 612.530 which is the statutory authority to appeal the Board's

2
 3
 4

SNC's Reply contained new issues and legal arguments that were not contained in the Petition for Writ of Mandamus and deprived ESD of an opportunity to respond; NRS Chapter 34 does not grant a respondent an opportunity respond to a petitioner's Reply. *See*, NRS 34.260.

Even though the Legislature expressly and unequivocally exempted the NRS 612 information that SNC sought under the presumed authority of the NPRA pursuant to NRS 239.010, declaring such requested information absolutely privileged and confidential, and despite SNC's refusal to exhaust its administrative remedies under NRS 612, the First Judicial District Court exceeded its jurisdiction and issued an Order Granting the Petition for Writ of Mandamus. (AA V.3, 255-275) In so doing, the Court ordered ESD to comply with SNC's NPRA request, in violation of NRS 239.010,¹¹ superseding the referee's authority to make discovery decisions, develop evidence and issue a final decision, and superseding the authority of Board of Review, as well as that of the appropriate reviewing district court¹² on a Petition for Judicial Review

decision to District Court with a Petition for Judicial Review.

The Court's (Judge Russell's) Order also violates NRS Chapter 612 and NRS Chapter 34.

¹² The First Judicial District Court could never have jurisdiction to review a Petition for Judicial Review in this administrative matter, as prostitution is illegal in Carson City, CCMC 8.04.110, and therefore, Carson City would

LAURE L. TROTTER, ESQ.
Senior Legal Counsel
STATE OF NEVADA DETR/ESD
500 East Third Street
Carson City, NV 89713
(775) 684-3996
(775) 684-3992 FAX

1

4

5 6

7

8 9

10

12

11

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

not have been "the county where the employment . . . was performed" which is necessary to establish jurisdiction. NRS 612.530(1) (although the ALJ has not yet held a hearing or issued a decision -- no findings of fact have yet been established.) SNC's Petition admits that SNC operates its business in

regarding the scope of discovery. (AA [Part II] V.5, 567) The Court acted in excess of its statutory authority when it reviewed the preliminary discovery decisions of the ALJ, made findings of fact regarding the pending administrative matter, even before the hearing could be held and a decision could be issued and become final. (AA V.5, 567-593) The Notice of Entry of Order was entered February 14, 2018. (AA V.5, 567-593)

SNC submitted the NPRA request in support of the NRS Chapter 612 administrative case (Docket No. V-17-A-04041-TX). Because SNC's NPRA request is inextricably intertwined with the underlying administrative case, judicial review is controlled by NRS 612.525 and 612.530. The discovery sought by SNC must be addressed administratively and judicial review is strictly limited -- requiring finality and confinement to the administrative record. See, Lellis v. Archie, 89 Nev. 550, 552-53, 516 P.2d 469, 470 (1973); Ranieri v. Catholic Community Services, 111 Nev. 1057, 1061, 901 P.2d 158, 1061 (1995). Judicial review of the administrative proceedings in this particular case would inevitably be held by the Third Judicial District Court, as SNC is located in Lyon County,

20

LAURE L. TROTTER, ESQ. Senior Legal Counsel STATE OF NEVADA DETR/ESD ATE OF NEVADA DETRIES 500 East Third Street Carson City, NV 89713 (775) 684-3996 (775) 684-3992 FAX

Nevada. NRS 612.530(1). (AA V.1, 001, 048, 1. 5) SNC took the additional step of advising the ALJ of the District Court's Order during a prehearing conference, *delivering* the "Order Granting Petition for Writ of Mandamus" to *the ALJ*. SNC requested same to be admitted into the administrative record, in a clear attempt to override the ALJ's initial discovery decision(s) and to direct the ALJ to comply with the District Court's specific Findings of Fact, despite the Legislature reserving such authority to make findings of fact exclusively with the ALJ. *See*, NRS 612.500 and NRS 612.510. (AA V.3, 325; AA V.5, 567-592)

During the February 9, 2018 prehearing conference, Referee Larsen presiding, SNC's counsel advised Referee Larsen that the District Court granted writ relief. *See*, AA V.3, 325. Remarking upon this information, Referee Larsen requested a copy of Order granting writ relief. *See*, AA V.3, 325. Counsel for SNC immediately thereafter emailed Referee Larsen with the Order and requested that the Order granting writ relief be admitted as an exhibit into the administrative record in Docket No. V-17-A-04041-TX. (AA V.3, 325)

On February 16, 2018, ESD filed with the First Judicial District Court, a Motion to Reconsider Pursuant to NRCP 59(e) and 60(b). (AA V.3,

Lyon County, Nevada. Carson City is not located within Lyon County (AA

1	284-335) SNC filed an untimely "Opposition to Motion for
2	Reconsideration" on March 14, 2018. (AA V.4, 409-423) The District
3	Court ordered that ESD's Motion to Reconsider was denied on July 11,
4	2018. (AA V.4, 445) The NRS 612 administrative proceeding before
5	Referee Larsen has been stayed pending this appeal. The District Court
6	proceedings have likewise been stayed. (AA V.5, 551-555)
7	SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
8	When SNC unreasonably believed it was being "stonewalled"
9	regarding its discovery requests in the NRS 612 administrative proceeding,
10	SNC submitted an NPRA request to ESD seeking privileged and
11	confidential information protected under NRS Chapter 612.265 and NRS
12	49.095. SNC's request stated, in part:
13	the public records requested are necessary for the
14	proper presentation of a proceeding pursuant to NRS Chapter 612, and are <u>not</u> sought for <u>any</u> other purpose. (Emphasis added) (AA V.1, 037-

40; 049, 11. 11-13)

ESD responded with a letter respectfully declining to provide SNC the information. The letter explained that the requested information was discoverable in the ongoing NRS 612 administrative matter described in

19

15

16

17

18

20

V.1, 048, 11. 5)

AURE L. TROTTER, ESQ. Senior Legal Counsel ATE OF NEVADA DETR/ESD 500 East Third Street Carson City, NV 89713 (775) 684-3996 (775) 684-3992 FAX

SNC's request.¹³ After the October 19, 2017 prehearing conference in the administrative matter. Referee Larsen presiding (AA V.1, 42), SNC apparently disagreed with Referee Larsen's initial discovery decision. (AA V.1, 049, Il. 12) Before any evidentiary hearing could be held, and absent statutory authority, SNC filed an errant Petition for Writ of Mandamus with the First Judicial District Court, seeking the same or similar information requested in the NRS 612 administrative proceeding, citing to the NPRA as authority. (AA V.1, 022-024; 045-69) Superseding the authority of the referee concerning the scope of discovery, the District Court erroneously granted the Petition for Writ of Mandamus, under NRS Chapter 239; and in so doing, it acted in excess of its jurisdiction and infringed the authority of the Legislature. See, NRS 612.500.

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