IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

STATE OF NEVADA
DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT,
TRAINING & REHABILITATION,
EMPLOYMENT SECURITY
DIVISION,

Appellant,

VS.

SIERRA NATIONAL CORPORATION, doing business as THE LOVE RANCH, a Nevada Corporation,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No. 76639

District Case No. Electronically 11 Electric Feb 27 2019 11:31 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appeal from First Judicial District Court, State of Nevada, in and for Carson City

The Honorable James T. Russell

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Anthony L. Hall, Esq., Nevada Bar No. 5977

<u>AHall@SHJNevada.com</u>

Ricardo N. Cordova, Esq., Nevada Bar No. 11942

<u>RCordova@SHJNevada.com</u>

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

¹⁴Like its cases about mandamus relief, the cases DETR compiles regarding exhaustion, *see* AOB 37-38, do not even involve the NPRA, much less impose an exhaustion requirement on NPRA requests.

authority is presented on appeal."). Thus, the district court did not abuse its discretion in rejecting DETR's arguments about exhaustion.

E. The District Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion in Rejecting DETR's Claims Regarding Specificity

DETR argues that The Love Ranch's NPRA Request was "improper" because it was supposedly required to "identify specific records." See AOB 44-51. This argument is unavailing.

To begin, DETR is attempting to shift its burden to overcome the NPRA's presumption of openness. Such tactics are directly odds with the provisions of the NPRA, and nearly three decades of NPRA jurisprudence. See NRS 239.001(2)-(3); NRS 239.0113; Gibbons, 127 Nev. at 877-880, 266 P.3d at 626-28; Haley, 126 Nev. at 214-218, 234 P.3d at 924-26; Donrey, 106 Nev. at 635, 798 P.2d at 147.

The NPRA simply does not contain the draconian specificity requirements DETR claims. Nor is there any basis for reading such requirements into the NPRA. By authorizing "a written or oral request" for public records, the Legislature expressed its disfavor of such obstacles. See NRS 239.0107(1). Bolstering this conclusion, the Legislature declared that the NPRA "must be construed liberally" to maximize the public's right of access, and that, in contrast, any

limitations on access to records "must be construed narrowly." See NRS 239.001(1)-(3). And, forcing the party seeking public records to blindly attempt to specifically identify each requested record to the agency that is in possession of the records would be an absurd, and patently unfair, result.

DETR suggests, however, that in NRS 239.008(3)(1), the Legislature delegated authority to the State Library, Archives and Public Administrator to superimpose such a requirement on the NPRA. See AOB 46. Using this as a springboard, DETR argues that the Nevada Public Records Act: A Manual for State Agencies ("Manual"), related NAC regulations, and DETR's own internal policies and forms, establish a rigorous specificity requirement on anyone who dares to request public records from a state agency. DETR's resort to these materials is fruitless.

For starters, the incomplete quotations to NRS 239.008 in DETR's Opening Brief do not even begin to tell the whole story. NRS 239.008 provides as follows:

- 1. The head of each agency of the Executive Department shall designate one or more employees of the agency to act as records official for the agency.
- 2. A records official designated pursuant to subsection 1 shall carry out the duties imposed pursuant to this chapter on the agency of the

Executive Department that designated him or her with respect to a request to inspect or copy a public book or record of the agency.

- 3. The State Library, Archives and Public Records Administrator, pursuant to NRS 378.255 and in cooperation with the Attorney General, shall prescribe:
 - (a) The *form* for a request by a person to inspect or copy a public book or record of an agency of the Executive Department pursuant to NRS 239.0107;
 - (b) The form for the written notice *required to be provided by an agency* of the Executive Department pursuant to paragraph (b), (c) or (d) of subsection 1 of NRS 239.0107; and
 - (c) By regulation the *procedures with* which a records official must comply in carrying out his or her duties.
- 4. Each agency of the Executive Department shall make available on any website maintained by the agency on the Internet or its successor the forms and procedures prescribed by the State Library, Archives and Public Records Administrator and the Attorney General pursuant to subsection 3.

(Emphasis added.)

Thus, the thrust of NRS 239.008 imposes obligations on the agency responding to a public records request, not the party requesting public records. Regarding the NPRA requests, the statute merely gives the Archives Administrator authority to create a "form" that agencies can

use. Nothing in NRS 239.008 grants the Archives Administrator, let alone state agencies such as DETR, authority to implement the specificity requirements claimed by DETR. Read properly, the statute merely permits the Archives Administrator to establish internal regulations for responding to records requests. It does not authorize bureaucratic regulations to narrow the rights guarded by the NPRA.

This Court has repeatedly rejected the notion that the Legislature gave government bureaucrats—the same people the NPRA was designed to keep accountable—free reign to make regulatory encroachments on the NPRA. For instance, in *Reno Newspapers v. Gibbons*, this Court flatly rejected State's attempt to withhold records based upon its "informal employee e-mail policy," noting it "does not have the force of law." 127 Nev. at 885, 266 P.3d at 631.

Next, in Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department v. Blackjack Bonding, this Court noted that because the information requested was public under the NPRA, it need not consider whether it would also be considered public under the regulations enacted by the Archives Administrator. 131 Nev. ____, ___ n. 3, 343 P.3d 608, 613 n.3 (2015).

Similarly, in Comstock Residents Association v. Lyon County Board of Commissioners, this Court held that the NAC "do[es] not limit the

reach of the NPRA, but merely establish[es] regulations for good records management practices of those local programs." 134 Nev. at ____, 414 P.3d at 322. This Court explained that "[t]he best practices for local government record management and what constitutes a public record for purposes of the NPRA are distinct, and we are careful not to conflate them here." Id.¹⁵

Most recently, in *Clark County School District v. Las Vegas Review-Journal*, this Court reiterated that "internal regulations do not limit the NPRA." 134 Nev. ____, ____, 429 P.3d 313, 318 (2018). As this Court reasoned,

[a]scribing a force to such regulations that limits the NPRA would create an opportunity for government organizations to make an end-run around the NPRA by drafting internal regulations that render documents confidential by law. While the regulations undoubtedly play an essential role in [the government's] internal operations . . . we hold that they do not render the withheld documents confidential by law under the NPRA.

Id.

¹⁵Blackjack Bonding and Comstock completely defeat DETR's related argument, which it raises for the first time on appeal, and in perfunctory fashion, that The Love Ranch supposedly sought "nonrecord" materials as defined in NRS 239.705. See AOB 50.

As Gibbons, Blackjack Bonding, Comstock, and Clark County School District make clear, government bureaucrats cannot erect their own barriers to the NPRA, whether by manual, regulation, policy, or otherwise.¹⁶

DETR's argument is not only legally misguided, but it is factually baseless. As the district court observed, The Love Ranch's NPRA Request spelled out, in detail, the records sought. The description was in accord with other public records requests this Court has reviewed and discussed with approval. See, e.g., Comstock, 134 Nev. at ____, 414 P.3d at 320 (approving NPRA request "seeking communications concerning the approval of the zoning change, regardless of whether they occurred on public or private devices"); Gibbons, 127 Nev. at 875, 266 P.3d at 625 (approving request for "e-mail communications sent over a six-month time period between Governor Gibbons and ten individuals").

Also unavailing are DETR's criticisms that The Love Ranch's NPRA Request sought "any and all records" regarding the categories identified.

¹⁶And, while DETR claims the various materials it has cobbled together create a "responsibility to specifically identify the document(s)," see AOB 47, this is an overstatement, at best. For example, NAC 239.863(1)(c), a regulation DETR cited below, but has mysteriously abandoned on appeal, simply purports to require "[a] description of the public record that is *sufficient* to identify the record." (emphasis added). The Love Ranch's NPRA Request easily met that standard.

See AOB 49. Again, this Court has approved of similar requests. See Haley, 126 Nev. at 213, 234 P.3d at 924 (approving request for "all records 'detailing the status of any and all [concealed firearms] permits issued by the Washoe County Sheriff's Office to Gov. Jim Gibbons,' and all 'documents detailing action taken by the Washoe County Sheriff's Office on that permit, including a decision to suspend, revoke, or hold the permit.") (emphasis added).¹⁷

DETR's after-the-fact justifications for its blanket denial of the NPRA Request do not withstand scrutiny. As the district court astutely observed, DETR's arguments regarding specificity were belied by its failure to request additional information or clarification, despite an invitation in the NPRA Request for DETR to contact The Love Ranch with any questions. The district court's rejection of DETR's arguments

¹⁷Also meritless is DETR's new criticism that "only three (3) of the thirteen (13) categories in [The Love Ranch's] request contain any date." See AOB 49. As the party in possession of the requested records, DETR was in a position to easily ascertain such information. DETR's bickering is further belied by its failure to ask for any clarification.

¹⁸For similar reasons, DETR's quibbling that it "only has five (5) business days to respond to a request for a public record," *see* AOB 47, is unpersuasive. Under NRS 239.0107(c), if the government agency is unable to provide the record by the end of the fifth business day after the request, the agency can obtain additional time.

is supported by substantial evidence, and therefore, should not be disturbed.

F. The District Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion in Rejecting DETR's Claim of Confidentiality under NRS 612.265(1)-(2)

DETR argues that the requested records are confidential under NRS 612.265(1)-(2). See AOB 21-37. "In harmony with the overarching purposes of the NPRA, the burden of proof is imposed on the state entity to prove that a requested record is confidential." Reno Newspapers, Inc. v. Gibbons, 127 Nev. 873, 882, 266 P.3d 623, 629 (2011); see NRS 239.0113. Absent a statutory provision that "expressly and unequivocally" declares a record to be confidential, any limitations on disclosure may only be based upon a broad balancing of the interests involved. Reno Newspapers v. Haley, 126 Nev. 211, 214, 234 P.3d 922, 924 (2010).

DETR continues to turn these rules of construction directly on their head. DETR broadly and liberally construes NRS 612.265(1)-(2). At the same time, DETR affords a cramped construction of the NPRA, or ignores its provisions altogether. Because DETR refuses to acknowledge the applicable rules of construction, it has utterly failed to meet its burden to overcome the NPRA's presumption of openness and show that NRS

616.265(1)-(2) expressly and unequivocally declare the requested records to be confidential.

Notwithstanding the selective quotations¹⁹ DETR offers in its Opening Brief, see, e.g., AOB 28:9-12, the provisions of NRS 612.265(1)-(2) provide as follows:

- 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section and NRS 239.0115 and 612.642, information obtained from any employing unit or person pursuant to the administration of this chapter and any determination as to the benefit rights of any person is confidential and may not be disclosed or be open to public inspection *in any manner which would reveal the person's or employing unit's identity*.
- 2. Any claimant or a legal representative of a claimant is entitled to information from the records of the Division, to the extent necessary for the proper presentation of the claimant's claim in any proceeding pursuant to this chapter. A claimant or an employing unit is not entitled to information from the records of the Division for any other purpose.

(Emphasis added).

¹⁹In addition, this entire section of DETR's Opening Brief (AOB 21-35) is so disjointed that it is virtually incomprehensible. *See Berkson v. LePome*, 126 Nev. 492, 501, 245 P.3d 560, 566 (2010) ("It is well established that this court need not consider issues not supported by cogent argument and citation to relevant authority.").

Thus, NRS 612.265(1) narrowly exempts information only to the extent that disclosure of such information would reveal the identity of a claimant for unemployment benefits or his or her employer. Even then, this narrow confidentiality is conditional, as NRS 612.265(2) provides that such information may still be disclosed to the extent it is needed for any proceeding pursuant to NRS Chapter 612. In other words, when NRS 612.265(1)-(2) are narrowly construed, as required, see Gibbons, 127 Nev. at 878, 266 P.3d at 626-28; Haley, 126 Nev. at 214-15, 234 P.3d at 924-25, they do not afford the sweeping protection DETR would have this Court believe. Stated simply, what DETR calls an "expansive shield against release," see AOB 27, is nothing of the sort.

Moreover, The Love Ranch expressly explained that it does not seek the identity of any claimant or his or her employer. The Love Ranch specifically requested that any records that arguably would reveal such information simply be redacted, with an appropriate log. The Love Ranch further explained that to the extent such information was reflected in the requested records, such documents should still be disclosed, as they are necessary for the proper resolution of its administrative appeal of DETR's determination that its tenants are employees.

Even if portions of the requested records could have revealed the identity of a claimant or an employing unit, redaction of those limited portions would render the remainder appropriate for disclosure.²⁰ The notion that *all* of the requested records would supposedly reveal such information—which is what DETR would have had to have shown to justify its blanket denial of the NPRA Request—is not just pure speculation, it is absurd. This Court has repeatedly rejected the tactics DETR employed below. See DR Partners v. Board of County Commissioners, 116 Nev. 616, 628, 6 P.3d 465, 473 (2000) ("it is insufficient [for the public entity] to hypothesize cases where secrecy might prevail and then contend that the hypothetical controls all cases") (quoting Star Pub. Co. v. Parks, 875 P.2d 837, 838 (Ariz. 1993)). Accordingly, the district court did not abuse its discretion in rejecting DETR's claims of confidentiality under NRS 612.265(1)(2).

²⁰This exemplifies the reasons a log, with a description of any redactions, is vital. The requesting party, and the court, cannot even begin to address the legitimacy of a claim of confidentiality absent a description of the records and the specific basis for withholding such records.

G. DETR Failed to Preserve its Argument Regarding NRS 612.265(14)

DETR argues, at length, that the requested records are confidential under NRS 612.265(14). See AOB 21-35. It is well-established that "[p]arties 'may not raise a new theory for the first time on appeal, which is inconsistent with or different from the one raised below." Schuck v. Signature Flight Support of Nevada, Inc., 126 Nev. 434, 437, 245 P.3d 542, 544 (2010) (quoting Dermody v. City of Reno, 113 Nev. 207, 210, 931 P.2d 1354, 1357 (1997)).

Further, the district court does not abuse its discretion by not considering arguments raised for the first time on reconsideration. See Achrem v. Expressway Plaza Limited Partnership, 112 Nev. 737, 742, 917 P.2d 447, 450 (1996); see also 389 Orange Street Partners v. Arnold,179 F.3d 656, 665 (9th Cir. 1999) ("Our abuse of discretion review precludes reversing the district court for declining to address an issue raised for the first time in a motion for reconsideration.").

Below, in contrast to the energy DETR now devotes to NRS 612.265(14) in its Opening Brief,²¹ DETR never articulated *any*

²¹In an obvious attempt to conceal its failure to preserve NRS 612.265(14), DETR jumbles its arguments regarding this provision amongst an array of other statutes. *See* AOB 21-35.

argument as to how the provision applies at all, let alone expressly and unequivocally makes the requested records confidential. Because DETR failed to do so, the district court's order denying reconsideration did not specifically address NRS 612.265(14). This underscores DETR's glaring failure to preserve this argument. Efficiency, fairness, and judicial economy dictate that DETR cannot reinvent its arguments on appeal. But even if DETR preserved its arguments regarding NRS 612.265(14), the district court did not abuse its discretion in not considering this provision because DETR raised it for the first time on reconsideration.

H. Even if Preserved, DETR's Arguments Regarding NRS 612.265(14) Fail

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